Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-27-2017

Barnes v. Jackson Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44894

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

A. Nature of the Case.

This case is about how legal forfeiture of a water right is analyzed and determined. This area of Idaho law begs for clarification from this Court as there are few cases on the matter and little written material from the Idaho Department of Water Resources ("<u>IDWR</u>") regarding forfeiture of a water right. Given the conclusion of the Snake River Basin Adjudication, the issue of forfeited water rights is going to be raised with increasing frequency and useful guidance from this Court will help lower courts and water users better understand forfeiture, act prudently, and engage in the correct forfeiture analysis.

Here, uncontroverted facts show that an irrigation water right was not used on a portion of its authorized place of use for more than five years (the "Jackson Property," more specifically defined below). The water right owner ("Bloxham", more specifically defined below) instead concentrated water diverted under his water right to irrigate a different portion of his property (the "Barnes Property", also more specifically defined below). After Bloxham declared bankruptcy, the bankruptcy trustee sold the Jackson Property to defendant/respondent, Kirk Jackson ("Jackson") in 2012, while Bloxham—and later, the Barneses—continued irrigating the Barnes Property. From the time Jackson bought the Jackson Property, he claims to have begun gradually re-irrigating parts of the Jackson Property, claiming to use that portion of Bloxham's original water right appurtenant thereto. The Barneses have instituted this action to declare that the water right appurtenant to the Jackson Property has been forfeited by: (A) nonuse for more than five years, meaning the failure to apply any of the water to beneficial use on the Jackson Property; (B) there are no statutory exceptions that extend that five year forfeiture period; and (C) Bloxham, by irrigating the Barnes Property continuously, made a claim of right that the Barneses may assert on the forfeited water before Jackson resumed any use or, alternatively, this action was instituted before Jackson fully resumed his use of the water right, and there are fact issues surrounding how much of Jackson's water right has been forfeited. The District Court applied a correct analytical framework, but erred in its consideration of "nonuse" and in finding that the Barneses could not assert their predecessor-in-interest's claim of right.

B. Course of Proceedings.

The Barneses instituted this action against Jackson on August 29, 2014, to have the District Court declare that Jackson's water right, Water Right No. 29-14032 ("<u>29-14032</u>"), has been forfeited and, as a result, that Jackson has no right to divert water from Spring Creek. Clerk's Record ("<u>R.</u>") at 7-13. Jackson denied the Barneses' were entitled to any such relief and counterclaimed, alleging the Barneses' water right, Water Right No. 29-14115 ("<u>29-14115</u>"), was forfeited. R. at 22-26. The Barneses denied that 29-14115 was forfeited. R. at 30-31.

On January 15, 2016, the Barneses moved for summary judgment. R. at 55. This was supported by the *Affidavit of Craig V. Bloxham* (the "*Bloxham Affidavit*"). R. at 57-81. Originally, the hearing on this motion was scheduled for February 29, 2016. R. at 95. However, because Jackson changed counsel and the parties were exploring potential settlement options, the

hearing was moved several times, to March 15, 2016, R. at 102; then to April 4, 2016, R. at 105; until finally the April 4th hearing was converted to a status conference, R. at 3. Because settlement negotiations had been unsuccessful, the District Court entered the *Second Order Setting Court Trial* to get the case back on an adverse litigation schedule. R. at 106-11.

After engaging in discovery, the Barneses reset the hearing for their outstanding motion for summary judgment for October 31, 2016. R. at 118. The Barneses also submitted an *Amended Memorandum in Support of Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment*, R. at 120-38, the *Declaration of Roy Calvin Henderson* (the "<u>Henderson Declaration</u>"), R. at 139-41, and the *Affidavit of Robert L. Harris* (the "<u>First Harris Affidavit</u>"), R. at 142-236. Jackson objected. R. at 242-56. In support of his objection, Jackson submitted the *Affidavit of Kirk Jackson in Support of Defendant's'* [sic] *Objection to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment* (the "<u>First</u> <u>Jackson Affidavit</u>"), R. at 257-61, and the *Affidavit of Peter M. Wells* (the "<u>Wells Affidavit</u>"), R. at 262-317. After the Barneses' reply, R. at 318-46, the District Court heard argument on October 31, 2016. R. at 349.

On November 17, 2016, the District Court issued its *Decision on Motion for Summary Judgment* (the "<u>SJ_Decision</u>"). R. at 350-362. The *SJ Decision* found that, although uncontroverted evidence showed that Water Right No. 29-10420 ("<u>29-10420</u>")—the parent right from which both 29-14032 and 29-14115 derive—had not used the water on Jackson's property between 2004 and 2011, 29-10420 (owned by Craig and Vern Bloxham, together referred to as "<u>Bloxham</u>") had been used in full on a *part* of the authorized place of use (the portion that would become that Barneses' property), which prevented the occurrence of any non-use to precipitate

APPELLANTS' BRIEF—PAGE 3

forfeiture. R. at 355. Further, the *SJ Decision* also found that the Barneses could not assert Bloxham's claim of right to foreclose Jackson's resumption of use of 29-14032 and, since Jackson resumed (some) use of 29-14032 on his property before the Barneses bought their property and the water right appurtenant thereto, the Barneses' claim of right also could not foreclose Jackson's resumption of use. R. at 358. The *SJ Decision* partly denied the Barneses' motion—instead granting summary judgment as to the Barneses' claims in favor of Jackson—but granted the Barneses' motion as to Jackson's counterclaim. R. at 361. The District Court entered a *Judgment* dismissing the Barneses' complaint and Jackson's counterclaim with prejudice. R. at 363-64.

On December 1, 2016, the Barneses filed *Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration*. R. at 365-67. In their supporting memorandum, the Barneses sought to clarify some errors they contend the District Court made in the *SJ Decision*. R. at 368-88. Specifically, the Barneses contended that use or non-use of an agricultural irrigation water right, such as 29-14032 (separately or as a part of the parent right), is determined by its application to beneficial use on the authorized irrigated acres. R. at 371-76; *see also* R. at 376-80 (regarding the interaction of partial forfeiture with the beneficial use of irrigating authorized acres). Further, the Barneses explained why they were allowed to assert the claim of right made by their predecessor-in-interest, Bloxham. R. at 380-84. The Barneses also submitted a second affidavit from their counsel, Robert L. Harris. R. at 389-403. Jackson objected, arguing that 29-14032 could not be forfeited because there was no evidence showing there was enough water during the relevant time period to fully satisfy 29-10420—the common parent right—and that Bloxham (the owner

of 29-10420) cannot be a third party to assert a claim of right against 29-14032. R. at 412-15. Jackson also submitted another affidavit. R. at 417-19. After the Barneses' reply brief, R. at 422-31, the District Court held the hearing on the Barneses' motion for reconsideration on December 22, 2016. R. at 445.

At the hearing on December 22, 2016, Jackson's counsel brought up a decision of the Snake River Basin Adjudication ("<u>SRBA</u>") known as the Monarch Greenback decision. Transcript ("<u>Tr.</u>"), p. 88, ll. 11-23. To address this newly introduced persuasive authority, the District Court allowed the parties to submit supplemental briefs after the hearing. Tr., p. 100, l. 13–p. 101, l. 12; R. at 446-47; *see also* R. at 432-440, 441-44, 448-56 (the supplemental briefs).

On January 25, 2017, the District Court issued its *Decision on Motion for Reconsideration* (the "<u>Reconsideration Decision</u>"). R. at 457-71. The *Reconsideration Decision* reasserted the same holding as had the *SJ Decision*. R. at 470. Thereafter, the Barneses filed this appeal. R. at 472-79.

C. Statement of Facts.

On March 7, 1990, Bloxham filed a claim of water right with the SRBA. R. at 60, 79-81 (*Bloxham Affidavit*, ¶ 15 and Exhibit 3, respectively). This water right, administratively denoted 29-10420 by IDWR, was decreed by the SRBA in a partial decree dated March 22, 2004. *See Partial Decree Pursuant to I.R.C.P. 54(b) for Water Right 29-10420* (available from the IDWR's Website at: <u>http://www.idwr.idaho.gov/apps/ExtSearch/DocsImages/36gh01_.PDF</u>).

Bloxham originally used 29-10420 to irrigate three parcels he called the "Penrose Place," the "lower Wilding Place," and "the [upper] Wilding Place," which were all within the decreed

place of use for 29-10420. R. at 58-60. However, Bloxham only irrigated the upper Wilding Place once, at "some point between 1993 and 1996." R. at 60 (*Bloxham Affidavit*, ¶ 14). The upper Wilding Place "has not been irrigated with Spring Creek water [*i.e.*, with 29-10420] since the mid-1990s" and specifically not "between 2004 and 2012," while Bloxham owned the property. R. at 60 (*Bloxham Affidavit*, ¶¶ 15-16). This is significant because the upper Wilding Place was sold to Jackson on April 26, 2012 (and is referred to herein as the "Jackson Property"). R. at 60 (*Bloxham Affidavit*, ¶ 16), 216-17.

In contrast, Bloxham created an irrigation system for the Penrose Place and the lower Wilding Place. R. at 58-60. Bloxham actively used 29-10420 to irrigate these parcels through 2014. R. at 61 (*Bloxham Affidavit*, ¶ 20). On January 31, 2014, Bloxham sold these parcels to the Barneses (and they are referred to herein as the "<u>Barnes Property</u>"). These properties and the shape files for the appurtenant water rights are depicted in Addendum A, attached hereto.

Craig Bloxham filed Bankruptcy on October 12, 2005. R. at 271 (*Wells Affidavit*, Ex. 2). There was some confusion surrounding Bloxham's interest (and thus, the interest of the bankruptcy estate) in the Jackson Property and other property. *See* R. at 271-72 (*Wells Affidavit*, Ex. 2, \P 3). Ultimately, the bankruptcy trustee sold the Jackson Property to Jackson on April 26, 2012. R. at 216-17; *see also* R. at 206 (Jackson's response to request for admission number 1, providing that "Craig Bloxham is not [Jackson's] immediate predecessor-in-interest on his property, the Federal Bankruptcy Court is").

It is completely uncontroverted that neither Bloxham nor the bankruptcy trustee irrigated the Jackson Property at any time between 2004 (when 29-10420 was decreed) and 2011. R. at

APPELLANTS' BRIEF—PAGE 6

60 (*Bloxham Affidavit*, ¶ 16). When the Jackson Property was sold to Jackson, Bloxham was still using 29-10420 to irrigate the remainder of his property—including the Barnes Property. R. at 61 (*Bloxham Affidavit*, ¶ 20). In contrast, Jackson's claimed irrigation of the Jackson Property was extremely limited.¹ Jackson filed a change of ownership notice² with the IDWR on May 31, 2012, which split 29-14032 off from 29-10420. R. at 213.

From July through September 2012, Jackson asserts he irrigated a grove of saplings using a 500 gallon tank four or five times per week for a period of ten to twelve weeks. R. at 132 (citing R. at 193, 167 (*First Harris Affidavit*, Ex. C, p. 6; *id.*, Ex. A)). This means that, at most, Jackson used 30,000 gallons (or 0.092 acre feet) of water during 2012. R. at 132 (citing R. at 228 (*First Harris Affidavit*, Ex. G, p. 5)).

The next year, from April through July 2013, Jackson claims to have used 29-14032 to irrigate ten acres of the Jackson Property. R. at 132 (citing R. at 194 (*First Harris Affidavit*, Ex.

¹ Jackson has made many claims regarding irrigation occurring on the Jackson Property. The Barneses have submitted evidence from Bloxham (who, previous to Jackson, owned the Jackson Property and water right appurtenant thereto) and Roy Calvin Henderson (a neighbor to the Jackson Property who has lived there for over 30 years) demonstrating that the Jackson Property has not been irrigated between 2004 and 2012. R. at 57-62 (*Affidavit of Craig V. Bloxham*), 139-40 (*Declaration of Roy Calvin Henderson*). These issues present conflicting issues of fact that, for purposes of summary judgment, must be resolved in Jackson's favor. However, one question raised in this appeal is whether the facts (assumed in Jackson's favor) are material to preventing the forfeiture of 29-14032.

² A processed change of ownership submission to IDWR simply updates IDWR's water right records and is not evidence that the water right is valid. The Notice of Change in Water Right Ownership form requires a copy of the conveyance document to be submitted with it, and ownership is updated accordingly. A copy of this form is available at http://www.idwr.idaho.gov/files/forms/notice-of-change-of-water-right-ownership.pdf. Α processed Notice of Change in Water Right Ownership does not mean the water right subject to the ownership change is valid. In fact, the correspondence accompanying the processed Notice of Change in Water Right Ownership makes it clear that "[u]pdating the ownership record for a water right does not reconfirm the validity of the right. When processing an ownership change notice, the department does not review the history of water use to determine if the right has been deliberately abandoned or forfeited through five years or more of non-See, e.g., letter regarding change of ownership for Water Right No. 25-7060, available at use." http://www.idwr.idaho.gov/apps/ExtSearch/DocsImages/n0j201 .PDF.

C, p. 7)). Further, to the extent any irrigation occurred in 2011, there appears to be some overlap between these ten acres and those irrigated acres. R. at 132 (citing R. at 168, 181-82 (*First Harris Affidavit*, Ex. A, pp. 55, 36, 35)).

As to 2014, Jackson has only provided information that he began irrigating the Jackson Property in September 2014. R. at 133 (citing R. at 194 (*First Harris Affidavit*, Ex. C)). The Barneses filed this case on August 29, 2014. R. at 7. Thus, any irrigation (or other events) that occurred in 2014 or thereafter are irrelevant to this appeal.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL.

- **A.** Did the District Court apply an erroneous analysis to the question of forfeiture and partial forfeiture of a water right?
- **B.** Did the District Court err in determining that the application of a water right to beneficial use had no bearing on the use or non-use of a water right?
- C. What is "beneficial use" in the context of a water right forfeiture analysis?
- **D.** Did the District Court err in holding that no portion of an agricultural irrigation water right can be forfeited when the water user applies all available water on only a portion of the authorized acres?
- **E.** While "water must be available to satisfy the water right" in order for a water right to be forfeited, does this require the actual availability of all the allowed diversion rate described in the water right or is it the legal entitlement to use a portion of water that is available?

- **F.** Did the District Court err in determining that a water user who has forfeited a portion of his water right on certain property cannot, after being alienated from the property, assert a claim of right effective to foreclose any effort to resume use of the water right on the property?
- **G.** In the event of a partial forfeiture, are only the authorized irrigated acres under the water right reduced, or is a pro-rated portion of the diversion rate authorized under the water right also reduced?
- H. Just as partial forfeiture exists under Idaho law, if a water user only partially resumes use of a water right before a claim of right is asserted, is the water user entitled to the full water right or only that portion he has resumed use of?
- I. Did the Court err in granting summary judgment on behalf of Kirk Jackson and dismissing the Barneses' claim?

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

When reviewing a summary judgment decision, this Court has explained that it "employs the same standard used below." *Wyman v. Eck*, 161 Idaho 723, ____, 390 P.3d 449, 451 (2017) (citing *J-U-B Eng'rs, Inc. v. Sec. Ins. Co. of Hartford*, 146 Idaho 311, 314-15, 193 P.3d 858, 861-62 (2008)). "The court must grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Idaho R. Civ. P. 56(a). In analyzing summary judgment, "[t]his Court liberally construes all disputed facts in favor of the non-moving party and draws all reasonable inferences and conclusions supported by the record in favor of the party opposing the motion." *Wyman*, 161 Idaho at ____, 390 P.3d at 451 (quoting *J-U-B*, 146 Idaho at 314, 193 P.3d at 861)). However,

when—as here—"an action will be tried before the court without a jury, the judge is not constrained to draw inferences in favor of the party opposing a motion for summary judgment but rather the trial judge is free to arrive at the most probable inferences to be drawn from uncontroverted evidentiary facts." *Loomis v. City of Hailey*, 119 Idaho 434, 437, 807 P.2d 1272, 1275 (1991).

In order to survive summary judgment, the non-moving party must submit more than just conclusory assertions in response to a motion for summary judgment. In other words, "[a] mere scintilla of evidence or only slight doubt is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact." *Samuel v. Hepworth, Nungester & Lezamiz, Inc.*, 134 Idaho 84, 87, 996 P.2d 303, 306 (2000). "Instead, the nonmoving party must respond to the summary judgment motion with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial." *Van v. Portneuf Med. Ctr.*, 147 Idaho 552, 556, 212 P.3d 982, 986 (2009) (citation omitted).

IV. ARGUMENT.

Water right forfeitures are generally disfavored under Idaho law, and thus, "[t]he party asserting that a water right has been forfeited by nonuse for a period of five years has the burden of proving the forfeiture by clear and convincing evidence." *Sagewillow, Inc. v. Idaho Dep't of Water Res.*, 138 Idaho 831, 836, 70 P.3d 669, 674 (2003) (citing *Carrington v. Crandall*, 65 Idaho 525, 147 P.2d 1009 (1944)). A three-step analysis is required to determine whether a water right has been forfeited: (A) whether there has been five years of non-use of the water right, Idaho Code § 42-222(2); (B) whether a statutory exception applies to prevent the forfeiture, Idaho Code § 42-223; and (C) whether use of the water right was resumed before a

third party asserted a claim of right to the forfeited water, *Sagewillow*, 138 Idaho at 836, 70 P.3d at 674 (quoting *Carrington v. Crandall*, 65 Idaho 525, 531–32, 147 P.2d 1009, 1011 (1944)). This forfeiture analysis applies identically to both complete forfeiture and partial forfeiture. *Sagewillow*, 138 Idaho at 842, 70 P.3d at 680.

This case presents a relatively straightforward forfeiture case, but for the factual complication created by Bloxham's bankruptcy. While Bloxham's bankruptcy does not affect the forfeiture analysis or provide a statutory defense (*see* Section IV.B.1., *infra*), it does splinter a partial forfeiture of 29-10420 (*i.e.*, a forfeiture of the portion of the water right originally appurtenant to the Jackson Property) into what is now a complete forfeiture of 29-14032 (*i.e.*, the water right now appurtenant to the Jackson Property, descending from an administrative split of 29-10420). Here, there is no evidence demonstrating that any portion of the water right appurtenant to the Jackson Property³ was used to irrigate the Jackson Property between 2004 and 2011. It was only in 2012 after purchasing the Jackson Property that Jackson alleged he resumed irrigation (an alleged fact that is disputed). However, neither of the two circumstances claimed by Jackson Property, Bloxham was a third party who, by using the forfeited water, made a claim of right against the water not used on the Jackson Property. In any event, this action, filed on August 29, 2014, constitutes a *per se* claim of right, preventing any resumption of the

³ For ease of reference, "29-14032" is generally used throughout this brief to refer to the water right appurtenant to the Jackson Property, both before Jackson owned the Jackson Property (when the parent right, 29-10420, encompassed the Jackson Property) and after Jackson purchased the Jackson Property and filed a change of ownership for that portion of 29-10420 that was then administratively assigned the identifying number 29-14032.

use of 29-14032 after that date.

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