### Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-25-2017

# Barnes v. Jackson Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44894

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

to determine how and where they will use their water within their place of use, as is evidenced by the 2004 statutory elimination of the consumption of use element of a water right. If landowners do not use their entire water right allocated, or if they waste water, they may forfeit their rights under Idaho case law cited above. If, however, landowners must make hard choices about where and how to apply their water rights to beneficial use when water is scarce, and when the evidence is undisputed there was not enough water to irrigate the entire acreage assigned to their place of use, there is no logical or public policy reason to find statutory forfeiture.

Barnes is correct in noting that water rights are appurtenant to the land, and a division of land divides appurtenant water rights in direct proportion. *Russell v. Irish*, 20 Idaho 194, 118 P. 501 (1911). This rule of law is exactly why the Idaho Department of Water Resources assigned Jackson approximately forty percent of the water rights inherited from the parent water right – because Jackson had purchased approximately forty percent of the original parcel that contained the parent water right. The water rights belonged to the entire parcel of land when it was unified. If Bloxham forfeited his rights, fully or partially, that forfeiture must also apply to the entire parcel that contained Water Right 29-10420. This becomes impossible to measure in the instant case, however, because a water right refers to beneficial use of the water, and not beneficial use of the land to which the water right is appurtenant. There is nothing at all in the legal definition of a water right by its elements, or in the legal definition of "beneficial use" in Idaho, that suggest otherwise. Bloxham fully used his water rights beneficially to irrigate his

land for crops within his place of use between the years 2004 and 2012. There was no forfeiture that can be measured.

In their Motion to Reconsider filed in the District Court, the Barnses relied heavily on this Court's decision in *Dovel v. Dobson*, 122 Idaho 59, 831 P.2d 527 (1992). In that case, this Court affirmed the underlying decision of the Idaho Department of Water Resources. The water right at issue covered three different fields, totaling ninety-six (96) acres. The third field was six (6) acres. Dobson objected to a transfer of water rights, arguing that approving the transfer would result in an enlargement because part of the water right had been forfeited for nonuse. The Director concluded that the *consumptive use* appurtenant to the six-acre field had been forfeited by nonuse, but the Director did not reduce the amount which had historically been diverted for the fields, concluding that the transfer would not change the amount of use authorized by the water right. The District Court concluded, and this Court agreed, that the Director's determination was supported by substantial and competent evidence. As this Court noted in *Hagerman*, 947 P.2d at 404, this Court's decision in the Dovel case was fact specific, and did not turn on any interpretation of forfeiture law.

*Dovel* was decided before the Idaho legislature removed consumptive use of water as a consideration in determining whether a water right exists. Idaho Code § 42-202B(1). This is significant. If *Dovel* applies at all to this forfeiture analysis, the case now stands for the proposition that prior to 2004, lack of consumptive use on acreage could give rise to a forfeiture

claim made when those rights were being transferred. Since consumptive use can no longer be considered in determining whether a water right exists, *Dovel* really stands for the proposition that no forfeiture can occur today based on lack of consumptive use on only a portion of the property.

Finally, it should be noted that water rights lost through forfeiture are supposed to revert to the state as unappropriated water. *Jenkins v. State Dep't of Water Resources*, 103 Idaho 384, 647 P.2d 1256 (1982). As the Idaho Water Law Handbook explains:

> This does not mean that, say, a forfeited 1871-priority water right can be picked up and diverted under that priority by another water user. Rather, by eliminating this right from the priority line, more junior rights effectively "move up the ladder" or become that much more reliable because they have fewer senior rights in front of them.

Ferreday et al., WATER LAW HANDBOOK, page 39.

There are no policy arguments for the forfeiture rule that support Barnes' interpretation. The reasons for the forteiture rule have been described as follows: 1) to "clear" the water rights queue; 2) to promote economic development as junior rights move up the queue; 3) conservation of resources; 4) incentivizing participation in desirable water use practices, such as water banking. *See* Anderson & Kraft, *Why Does Idaho's Water Law Regime Provide for Forfeiture of Water Rights*, 48 Idaho L. Rev. 419, 440-446 (2012). Under the Barnes' view of this case, Bloxham had the right to concentrate his water rights onto one part of his place of use by changing his consumptive use, and then partition the un-watered portion of his place of use, but

still keep the "forfeited" water as a "third party in interest" or junior water rights holder *to his own water right*. No one benefits from this interpretation of Idaho water law except for Bloxham, and his successor in interest, the Barnses, as their property values are enhanced by more concentrated water rights on a smaller acreage than was originally appropriated, at the expense of Jackson's property which is devalued due to the loss of water rights.

# B. THE AUTOMATIC STAY PROVISIONS OF THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY CODE TOLLED THE STATUTORY PERIOD OF FORFEITURE, AND THE CLOCK DID NOT RUN ON FORFEITURE WHILE THE JACKSON PROPERTY WAS IN BANKRUPTCY

Although the District Court did not decide the case on this issue, this Court can affirm the granting of summary judgment in favor of Jackson on the alternative grounds raised below, because there is no dispute of material facts on this issue. When a debtor files a bankruptcy petition, an automatic stay immediately arises. 11 U.S.C. § 362(a). The stay provisions, 11 U.S.C. § 362(3), prohibit "any act to obtain possession of property of the state or of property from the estate or to exercise control over property of the estate." 11 U.S.C. § 362(c)(1) provides that property continues to be protected by the state so long as the property remains in the bankruptcy estate. The stay "is designed to effect an immediate freeze of the status quo by precluding and nullifying post-petition actions, judicial or non-judicial, in nonbanrkuptcy forums against …or affecting the property of the estate." *In Re Hillis Motors*, 997 F.2d 581, 585 (9<sup>th</sup>)

Respondent's Brief 11406: Respondents.Brief

Cir. 1993). "Accordingly, section 362 is extremely broad in scope and should apply to almost any type of formal or informal action against...the property of the estate." *Delpit v. Commissioner*, 18 F.3d 768, 771 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994).

The Barnses object to this Court allowing the bankruptcy stay to toll the forfeiture statutory period, stating that tolling of a statute is not an "act" that can be stayed by the federal statutes. The Barnses mischaracterize the application of the stay provisions. It is not the Idaho statute that is being stayed by federal bankruptcy law; it is Bloxham's actions of alleged forfeiture that are being stayed. While the property was in bankruptcy, Bloxham was not entitled to take any actions that could affect the property value or disposition. This includes, by the Barnses' theory, choosing to water or not to water the property that would subsequently become the Jackson's property. Any actions or willful inactions Bloxham took while the property was in bankruptcy should not be counted under Idaho's foreclosure statute under these federal bankruptcy provisions.

The Barnses next object that because the bankruptcy code contains its own tolling statute, 11.U.S.C. § 108(b), the federal tolling statute controls. 11 U.S.C. § 108(b) is inapplicable. That tolling statute applies to nonbankruptcy laws that fix a time for a debtor to cure a default or "any other similar act." Forfeiture of water rights is not curing default or a similar act.

Next, the Barnses object that the bankruptcy code excepts the automatic state from barring the "commencement or continuation of an action or proceeding by a governmental unit...to enforce such governmental unit's or organization's police or regulatory power." 11

U.S.C. § 362(b)(4). This statute does not on its face apply to this forfeiture proceeding, which was not brought by any governmental unit. It was brought by private parties, the Barnses.

As noted by the District Court, Bloxham was still the property title owner throughout the pendency of the bankruptcy, and he was also by operation of law the holder of the appurtenant water right. Bloxham was stayed from taking any action that could affect the property during the pendency of the bankruptcy, which would include deciding whether to water any part of his land. Idaho's forfeiture statutory period was tolled by operation of bankruptcy law. This Court can affirm the dismissal of Barnses' case and affirm the award of summary judgment to Jackson on this basis.

Finally, the Barnses complaint that application of the automatic stay provisions of the bankruptcy code would "enlarge or create" substantive property rights as defined by state law. Appellant's Brief, page 28. Applying the bankruptcy stay to toll the Idaho forfeiture statute does not enlarge or create substantive property rights. It prevents the property values from being manipulated through non-use of water rights or concentrated use of water rights to cause a forfeiture of valuable property rights. This is the very reason for the bankruptcy code stay: to prevent the judgement debtor or anyone else from taking action that could affect the value of property to be distributed in bankruptcy.

## C. THE FACTS ARE UNDISPUTED THAT JACKSON RESUMED FULL USE OF HIS WATER RIGHT BY APRIL OF 2013

The District Court found there was no dispute that Jackson partially resumed the water use on his property in 2012, and that he fully resumed the water use on his property in 2013. The Barnses attempt to create a material dispute of fact on this issue when none exists. The District Court found there was no dispute on this issue. Jackson testified that he diverted forty percent of the available water from Spring Creek and he pumped that water to irrigate his orchard and other crops. Although Bloxham and another neighbor testified they did not "see" Jackson irrigating his property, there was no testimony offered to contradict Jackson's diversion and beneficial use testimony. It should be noted that given Bloxham's open hostility to the Jackson's water rights from the beginning, his credibility is questionable. Jackson has additionally explained that his neighbor Henderson's view of the Jackson property is obstructed by a berm, and he would not know whether Jackson was irrigating his property.

On appeal, the Barnses ask this Court to speculate from the volume of water they are estimating was diverted that this did not represent forty percent of the available water from Spring Creek. Appellant's Brief p. 39. In support the Barnses reference an interrogatory response that succinctly summarizes Jackson's water use in 2013, but ignores the fuller deposition and affidavit testimony that fully explained it. (R. ) This is not a material fact in dispute.

Respondent's Brief 11406: Respondents.Brief

# D. AS THE HOLDER OF THE PARENT WATER RIGHT, BLOXHAM COULD NOT BE BOTH THE "OWNER" OF THE PROPERTY ABLE TO PARTIALLY FORFEIT WATER RIGHTS ON HIS PROPERTY, AND SIMULTANEOUSLY BE THE THIRD PARTY IN INTEREST/JUNIOR WATER RIGHTS HOLDER ABLE TO PREVENT RESUMPTION OF WATER RIGHTS WHEN HE PARTITIONED THE SAME PROPERTY

Bloxham relies on *Sagewillow, Inc. v. Idaho Dept. of Water Resources*, 138 Idaho 831, 70 P.3d 669 (2003) ("*Sagewillow II*) to assert that he was a third party in interest using the water that he had forfeited by not watering what subsequently became the Jackson property. Bloxham claims that he was both the owner to the entire parcel able to forfeit the water right, and that by the same conduct of using that "forfeited" water on what subsequently became the Barnes' property, when he partitioned his own property for sale through bankruptcy, he became a third party to his own forfeiture. This circular logic makes no sense, and it is not supported by any previous holdings of this Court.

In *Sagewillow II*, this Court recognized a possibility that junior water rights holders who begin using water when senior rights are forfeited could prevent a resumption of use argument and preserve the forfeiture. In that case, a landowner applied to the Department to change the place of use of numerous ground and surface water rights that originally had been authorized for irrigation of up to 2,390 acres in the Little Lost River Basin. Two of the ground water rights appurtenant to approximately 640 acres had been appropriated in the 1960s to facilitate obtaining

federal desert land entry ("DLE") patents, and thereafter had been abandoned. Between the late 1960s and 1989, no more than 1,412 acres had ever been irrigated under the remaining rights by Sagewillow's predecessor in interest. In 1989, Sagewillow purchased the property and immediately began redeveloping the irrigation system. By 1994, Sagewillow had brought approximately 2,390 acres back under irrigation, and then sought to change the place of use of the rights to reflect how they were then being used. The Department held that the two ground water rights appurtenant to 640 DLE acres had been forfeited in their entirety and that the portions of the remaining rights appurtenant to anything more than 1,412 acres also had been forfeited. The Department approved the transfer on condition that Sagewillow could irrigate no more than 1,412 acres. On appeal, the primary issue was whether Sagewillow had lawfully resumed the water rights and thereby avoided forfeiture.

This Court held that common law resumption remains a valid defense to forfeiture that can be defeated by a showing that a third party has made a "claim of right" to the water prior to the senior's resumption of use. A third party has made a claim of right to the water if he has: 1) instituted proceedings to declare a forfeiture; 2) obtained a valid water right authorizing the use of such water with a priority date prior to the resumption; or 3) used the water pursuant to an existing right. This Court also held that the resumption need not be made by the original appropriator, but must be upon the lands to which the water right originally was appurtenant. This Court additionally held that resuming the use of only a portion of the forfeited or

abandoned right will not prevent a loss of the non-resumed portion. *Sagewillow II*, 138 Idaho at 842, 70 P.3d at 680.

This Court remanded the case to the Department for further proceedings, to determine if there were any junior water rights holders who were relying on the forfeited water rights and could be affected by Sagewillow's application. *Id*.

This Court has held that only property owners, and not the beneficial users, of water rights are able to forfeit those water rights through nonuse. *Aberdeen Springfield Canal Co. v. Peiper*, 133 Idaho 87, 982 P.2d 917 (1999). The *Peiper* rule has been broadened and codified by Idaho Code § 42-223(7), but the common law rule has not been changed legislatively.

In the instant case, Bloxham urges this Court to treat him as the owner of the water right able to forfeit the right under the *Peiper* rule, but to also treat him as a junior water right holder in relationship to Jackson under the *Sagewillow II* rule, so that he could prevent Jackson's resumption of use. He asked to be treated by the law as two different parties to the same transaction, even though it is the very same conduct he is alleging that created both the forfeiture, and which should also prevent the resumption of use: Bloxham chose not to water the part of his parcel that became the Jackson parcel, and he chose to use all of his water on the part of his parcel that became the Barnses' property. Bloxham believes that he "automatically" became a third party in interest to the entire forfeiture as soon as he became severed from the Jackson property when he transferred that parcel to the bankruptcy court for sale. This argument misreads the entire reason for the *Sagewillow II* rule of law. The *Sagewillow II* rule is intended

to protect *junior* water rights users who have begun using the water previously forfeited by senior water rights users. This is consistent with the idea that when senior water rights are forfeited, they revert to the State so they can be re-appropriated to junior users for beneficial use. *Jenkins v. State Dep't of Water Resources*, 103 Idaho 384, 647 P.2d 1256 (1982).

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